CrossMark

Biotechnology Advances 33 (2015) 1787-1798

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



**Biotechnology Advances** 

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/biotechadv

# Modern affinity reagents: Recombinant antibodies and aptamers

## Katherine Groff, Jeffrey Brown, Amy J. Clippinger \*

PETA International Science Consortium Ltd., Society Building, 8 All Saints Street, London N1 9RL, England

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 29 July 2015 Received in revised form 9 October 2015 Accepted 12 October 2015 Available online 19 October 2015

Keywords: Antibodies Aptamers Recombinant antibodies Ascites antibodies Affinity reagents

## ABSTRACT

Affinity reagents are essential tools in both basic and applied research; however, there is a growing concern about the reproducibility of animal-derived monoclonal antibodies. The need for higher quality affinity reagents has prompted the development of methods that provide scientific, economic, and time-saving advantages and do not require the use of animals. This review describes two types of affinity reagents, recombinant antibodies and aptamers, which are non-animal technologies that can replace the use of animal-derived monoclonal antibodies. Recombinant antibodies are protein-based reagents, while aptamers are nucleic-acid-based. In light of the scientific advantages of these technologies, this review also discusses ways to gain momentum in the use of modern affinity reagents, including an update to the 1999 National Academy of Sciences monoclonal antibody production report and federal incentives for recombinant antibody and aptamer efforts. In the long-term, these efforts have the potential to improve the overall quality and decrease the cost of scientific research.

© 2016 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Inc. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

#### Contents

1.	Introduction	1787		
	1.1. Background on antibodies	1788		
	1.2. Historical methods of monoclonal antibody discovery and production.	1788		
2	Recombinant antibodies	1789		
2.	2.1 Construction of recombinant antibody libraries and phage display	1790		
	22 Panning	1790		
	2.2. failing.	1790		
		1701		
n		1701		
3.	Aplamers	1791		
	3.1. SELEX	1791		
4.	Applications of recombinant antibodies and aptamers	1793		
	4.1. Basic research	1793		
	4.2. Regulatory testing	1793		
	4.3. Clinical applications	1794		
	4.3.1. Imaging	1794		
	4.3.2. Therapeutics	1794		
5.	Discussion	1795		
	1 Antibody regulations in the European Union and the United States	1795		
	5.2 Recommendations	1796		
Ackr	6.2. (Commentations			
Dofo	1/700			
Relefices				

## 1. Introduction

\* Corresponding author.

*E-mail addresses:* KatherineG@piscltd.org.uk (K. Groff), JeffreyB@piscltd.org.uk (J. Brown), AmyJC@piscltd.org.uk (A.J. Clippinger).

There is a strong desire within the scientific community to see an improvement in the reproducibility of biomedical research. Last year, Francis Collins M.D., Ph.D., Director of the United States National Institutes of Health (NIH), and Lawrence Tabak, D.D.S., Ph.D., Principal

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2015.10.004

0734-9750/© 2016 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Inc. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

Deputy Director of the NIH, wrote that the NIH is concerned about the lack of reproducibility in biomedical research and shared actions the NIH was exploring to address this problem (Collins and Tabak, 2014). In response, a workshop organized by the NIH, Science, and Nature Publishing Group was convened to identify principles to increase reproducible, robust, and transparent research (McNutt, 2014). Among these principles is the recommendation to establish best practice guidelines for reporting on antibodies used in research, including the source, dilution used, and how the antibody was validated (NIH, 2015).

Similarly, there is a growing awareness within the scientific community of the need to improve the quality of commercial antibodies, which often show poor specificity or fail to recognize their targets. Recent publications cite documented evidence of the lack of quality and reproducibility of animal-derived antibodies and describe how their use has wasted tremendous amounts of money, time, and experimental samples (Baker, 2015; Bradbury and Plückthun, 2015). One study found that only 49% (2726 out of 5436) of commercial, animal-derived antibodies could be validated to recognize only their targets (Berglund et al., 2008). It has been estimated that half of the \$1.6 billion spent worldwide on protein-binding reagents is used on unreliable antibodies and that these antibodies may be the laboratory tool most commonly contributing to irreproducible research (Baker, 2015; Bradbury and Plückthun, 2015).

Alternative affinity reagents offer increased quality, speed of production, and return on investments in research. The existence of aptamers and recombinant antibodies (rAbs), two much-discussed modern non-animal affinity reagents, makes the replacement of conventional animal-based monoclonal antibody (mAb) production methods an attractive and achievable goal. One of the impediments to the replacement of animal-derived antibodies has been that the research community is largely unaware of the benefits associated with rAb and aptamer technologies. This review aims to familiarize antibody users with the state-of-the-science of these non-animalbased methods, how rAbs and aptamers can be incorporated into protocols that require affinity reagents, and how to gain momentum in the transition to these reagents. Greater awareness of the technical advantages of these non-animal alternatives among academia, industry, regulators, and funding bodies will help to facilitate wider funding, development, and use.

#### 1.1. Background on antibodies

In their native role as components of the adaptive immune system, antibodies—also called immunoglobulins (Ig)—are large, complex glycoproteins capable of binding substances, termed antigens, that may elicit a larger immune system response. Antibodies recognize small structural elements, or epitopes, on an antigen, thereby marking them for phagocytosis or other biological processes. Epitopes recognized by antibodies are typically short amino acid sequences within foreign proteins.

There are five mammalian antibody classes: IgA, IgD, IgE, IgG, and IgM. Antibodies belonging to the IgG class are the predominant immunoglobulin in human serum and the most important from a research perspective. They are generally represented as Y-shaped molecules consisting of two heavy and two light chains (Fig. 1). The shorter light chains interact with the N-terminus of the heavy chains to form the two "arms," or antigen-binding (Fab) domains, which are composed of both constant and variable regions. Six variable amino acid loops at the termini of the Fab domains, also called the complementarity determining regions (CDRs), are responsible for binding to the antigen (Kierny et al., 2012). The tail of the Y-shape, the Fc domain, mediates the antibody's interaction with macrophages and other cells expressing Fc receptors.

The ability of antibodies to precisely bind their target antigen is the principal characteristic making antibodies an irreplaceable component of the immune system and particularly useful in research



Fig. 1. General structure of an IgG antibody showing the heavy and light chains, the Fab, and Fc domains, and antigen binding sites.

applications. Both polyclonal (derived from multiple lines of antibody-producing cells) and monoclonal (derived from a single line of antibody-producing cells) antibodies are used in research. Monoclonal antibodies are defined by their capacity to selectively bind a single antigen.

#### 1.2. Historical methods of monoclonal antibody discovery and production

Monoclonal antibodies are generated using either animal or recombinant DNA methods. Many technical advances have been made in mAb production technology in the four decades since Köhler and Milstein published their manuscript on hybridoma technology in 1975 (Köhler and Milstein, 1975). Their report describes the hybridization of antibody-producing B cells from the spleens of immunized mice with an immortal mouse myeloma tumor cell line, enabling the production of mouse mAbs for use as an investigational tool. The two general ways to discover and produce mAbs in animals, the ascites method and the "in vitro" method, share initial discovery steps. First, an animal (usually a mouse) is immunized with an antigen of interest. The mouse is often immunized multiple times over several weeks and, ultimately, killed to extract the spleen. Antibody-producing spleen cells from the mouse (immunocompetent B cells, which have a limited life span) are fused with immortalized myeloma tumor cells in vitro to produce a hybridoma. Hybridomas can be expanded in two ways: (1) by injection into the peritoneal cavity of a second mouse (called the in vivo ascites method) or (2) by culturing the hybridoma cells in vitro (called the "in vitro" method). While both methods use animals in the initial immunization step, the ascites method uses additional animals in procedures recognized to cause considerable pain and distress (Fig. 2) (Animal Welfare Division of OPRR, 1997; Marx et al., 1997; NRC, 1999). Historically, the ascites method produced more concentrated antibodies than the "in vitro" method without the need for expertise in cell culture methods; however, technological advancements have led to the "in vitro" production of more concentrated antibodies and non-animal affinity reagents (Hendriksen, 2006; Marx and Merz, 1995).

More specifically, ascites antibody production often involves injecting animals' abdominal linings with a priming solution (such as Pristane or Freund's Incomplete Adjuvant) to induce inflammation and interfere with drainage of peritoneal fluid. Priming is followed by injection of the hybridoma cell suspension. Hybridoma cells multiply and produce antibody-containing fluid, which accumulates in the abdominal cavities of the mice. As tumors grow, animals' abdomens distend as they fill with antibody-containing fluid;



Fig. 2. Historical methods of monoclonal antibody production. Monoclonal antibodies have historically been produced using the ascites or "*in vitro*" methods. The methods' steps include 1) immunization of a mouse with the antigen; 2) isolation of antibody-producing cells from the mouse's spleen; 3) fusion of immortal myeloma cells with the antibody-producing spleen cells to make hybridomas; and 4) screening and selection of the desired antibody-producing hybridoma, followed by expansion of the hybridoma cells either in a mouse (ascites method) or *in vitro*.

animals have been reported to suffer from hunched posture, rough hair coat, reduced food consumption, emaciation, inactivity, difficulty in walking, and respiratory problems during this process—signs associated with pain and distress (Animal Welfare Division of OPRR, 1997; de Geus and Hendriksen, 1998; Hendriksen and de Leeuw, 1998; Howard and Kaser, 2013; Jackson et al., 1999; Marx et al., 1997; McGuill and Rowan, 1989; NIH Office of Animal Care and Use, 1996; NRC, 1999; OECD, 2002; Peterson, 2000). The fluid is typically extracted one to three times before the animal is killed, and the extraction procedure can lead to circulatory shock, as indicated by pale eyes, ears, and muzzle as well as breathing difficulties (Howard and Kaser, 2013; Jackson et al., 1999; NIH Office of Animal Care and Use, 1996; Peterson, 2000). Without intervention, an animal will die within two to four weeks after suffering from weight loss, muscle atrophy, dehydration, and complications associated with the tumor (NRC, 1999).

Overall, the "in vitro" hybridoma method is a refinement that uses fewer animals than the ascites method because animal use is not involved in the production phase. However, it still requires animal use in the discovery phase and, consequently, presents animal welfare concerns. In addition to animal welfare issues, these animal-based methods pose scientific issues, including the inability of an animal to mount an immune response to antigens that are highly conserved orthologs; the risk of contamination with viruses, rodent plasma proteins, bioreactive cytokines, murine immunoglobulins, and other contaminants; the destruction of antigens that are particularly labile in animal systems; and the inability to develop antibodies against toxic antigens that kill the animals prior to antibody production (Frenzel et al., 2014; Geyer et al., 2012; Hairul Bahara et al., 2013; Marx et al., 1997; McArdle, 1997; Scholler, 2012; Thiviyanathan and Gorenstein, 2012). Additionally, there are issues with the reproducibility of animal-derived antibodies (Baker, 2015; Bradbury and Plückthun, 2015; Marx et al., 1997). In 2015, 111 academic and industry scientists called for an international shift to the use of recombinant antibodies for reasons that include increased reliability and reduced lot-to-lot variability in affinity reagents (Bradbury and Plückthun, 2015).

Hybridoma-derived antibodies are time-consuming to create and often cause immune reactions in humans, limiting their usefulness as clinical therapies (Geyer et al., 2012). There is also an issue of practicality; in this era of proteomics, it is not feasible to use such animalintensive and lengthy processes to create antibodies for the growing number of available variations of human proteins and their animal orthologs.

## 2. Recombinant antibodies

Recombinant antibodies are produced *in vitro* and can be used for the same purposes as mAbs produced *in vivo*. Recombinant antibodies are selected from libraries of genes encoding slightly different antibody proteins for their affinity to bind to target antigens. In 1985, George Smith demonstrated that foreign proteins could be expressed on the surface of a bacteriophage, a virus that infects *Escherichia coli* (*E. coli*), by fusing the gene of the peptide to be displayed with the gene of the minor phage coat protein, pIII (Smith, 1985). In 1990, McCafferty and colleagues showed that variable domains of antibodies could be displayed in the same way (McCafferty et al., 1990). In the 25 years since this discovery, researchers have made great strides in optimizing the specificity and affinity achieved with this technology.

Various rAb display platforms have been developed that present the antibody on the surface of phages, mammalian cells, yeast, bacteria, insect cells, or ribosomes (Harel Inbar and Benhar, 2012). Phage display in bacteria is one of the oldest and most commonly used techniques (Even-Desrumeaux and Chames, 2012; Frenzel et al., 2014). Phage display involves the generation of an antibody library, selection of specific antibodies, and affinity maturation, as discussed below (and shown in Fig. 3) (Even-Desrumeaux and Chames, 2012; Frenzel et al., 2014).

#### 2.1. Construction of recombinant antibody libraries and phage display

There are four main types of libraries that differ by the source of the sequences used to build the library: immune, naïve, synthetic, and semisynthetic (Geyer et al., 2012; Harel Inbar and Benhar, 2012). Immune antibody libraries are generated using active B cells from an immunized human donor or animal, usually a mouse, and consist of more than 10<sup>10</sup> different antibody clones (Lloyd et al., 2009; Rader, 2012). A new immune library must be generated for each antigen of interest (Geyer et al., 2012). Naïve antibody libraries are generated using resting B cells from healthy, non-immunized humans and have been reported to consist of up to 10<sup>11</sup> clones (Lloyd et al., 2009; Thie et al., 2009).

Synthetic or semi-synthetic libraries contain either exclusively manmade CDRs or both natural and artificial CDRs, respectively. Because the region on the antibody that binds to the antigen (the CDR) is manmade, synthetic libraries are not limited to natural CDRs existing in animals. Examples of synthetic libraries are MorphoSys' Human Combinatorial Antibody Library (HuCAL) (available through Bio-Rad AbD Serotec) and AxioMx's library, each of which consists of more than 10<sup>10</sup> antibody clones (AxioMx, 2015; Prassler et al., 2011; Ylera, 2010).

In phage display, libraries consist of antibody gene fragments presented on phage particles. Because the full length IgG cannot be displayed on the phage surface, Fab fragments or single chain Fv (scFv) are often used (Frenzel et al., 2014). The complete antigenbinding site is retained; therefore, these fragments still have high affinity for their targets and can be modified to increase their affinity (Donzeau and Knappik, 2007). For some downstream applications, the Fab or scFv fragment is preferable over the full length IgG (e.g., to decrease nonspecific binding or interference from other parts of the molecule and in applications where their smaller size may be advantageous) (Donzeau and Knappik, 2007; Holliger and Hudson, 2005; Kierny et al., 2012).

#### 2.2. Panning

There are multiple variations to the panning process. In general, the antigen of interest is immobilized on solid supports, such as magnetic beads, immunotubes, or microtiter plates (Kotlan and Glassy, 2009). The antibody library is then incubated with the immobilized antigen (Hairul Bahara et al., 2013). During this process, the selection conditions can be precisely controlled by presenting specific conformations of the target antigen or by including competitors to direct selection toward epitopes of interest. This is useful, for example, in the generation of phospho-specific antibodies, those specific to the ubiquitin-bound or guanosine triphosphate (GTP)-bound form of proteins, and those that specifically recognize post-translational modifications (Eisenhardt et al., 2007; Gao et al., 2009; Hoffhines et al., 2006; Kehoe et al., 2006; Nizak et al., 2003; Nizak et al., 2005). Furthermore, because integral membrane proteins need a membrane or detergent environment to maintain their native conformation, conformation-specific rAbs can be selected for in the presence of a detergent, which is not possible in vivo due to the denaturing effect of the serum (Rothlisberger et al., 2004). Following incubation, nonspecific antibodies are washed away, and specific antibodies are eluted and amplified by infection in a bacterial host. This selection processes, called panning, generally occurs several times (Kierny et al., 2012). With each iteration, the pool of selected antibodies becomes enriched (Coomber, 2001).

#### 2.3. Cloning, selection, and screening

After panning, the resulting antibody DNA is cloned into expression vectors, transformed into *E. coli*, and then plated on agar plates (Kotlan and Glassy, 2009). Colonies—each of which represents one mAb—are picked and grown. Antibody molecules are screened for specificity and sequenced to identify unique antibodies, which are then expressed and purified.



**Fig. 3.** Recombinant antibody generation in phage. Recombinant antibody generation consists of: 1) antibody genes are fused with a gene of the phage coat protein, causing the phage to display the antibody protein on its surface. 2) Panning involves a) selecting an antibody of interest by combining the antibody library with an antigen immobilized on a solid support; b) washing antibody-antigen complexes to remove nonspecific or low affinity antigens/phage; and c) eluting the bound phage and in-fecting *E. coli* cells to amplify selected clones. The panning process is generally repeated several times. 3) the antibody-DNA-containing expression vector transformed into *E. coli* is plated on agar plates. Colonies representing individual mAbs are picked and grown. 4) antibody molecules are screened for specificity and sequenced to identify unique antibodies, which are then expressed and purified. Sequence diversity is introduced and antibody clones are evaluated for improved affinity.

## 2.4. Affinity maturation

Antibody affinity describes the strength of the interaction between an epitope on an antigen and one antigen-binding site on an antibody. In animals, affinity maturation is the process in which B cells produce antibodies with increasing ability to bind an antigen. The nature of the B cell response in animals, including the incubation time of the antigen with the B cell surface antibody, somatic hypermutation, and the presentation of the antigen to T cells, limits the affinity of animal-derived antibodies (Foote and Eisen, 2000). Because these biological constraints do not exist for rAbs, they can reach affinities higher than that of natural antibodies (Foote and Eisen, 1995, 2000; Geyer et al., 2012).

In general, larger antibody libraries can be used to reach higher affinities. Recombinant DNA-derived antibodies reach high antigen affinity through the introduction of sequence diversity into an antibody by either targeted or non-targeted methods. Non-targeted techniques, such as error-prone PCR and DNA shuffling, introduce diversity randomly into the whole antibody, which can lead to the introduction of deleterious mutations that compromise antibody stability. Targeted techniques, such as site-directed mutagenesis or CDR exchange and combination, allow the mutations to be directed within the CDR, the region most likely to increase antibody affinity without introducing deleterious mutations (Gever et al., 2012; Ponsel et al., 2011; Steidl et al., 2008). Following the *in vitro* affinity maturation process, antibody clones are evaluated for improved affinity, and antibody affinity in the picomolar to femtomolar range can be obtained (Boder et al., 2000; Hanes et al., 2000; Kierny et al., 2012; Lee et al., 2004; Razai et al., 2005; Schier et al., 1996). Advantages of recombinant antibody technology and relevant considerations for its use are noted in Tables 1 and 2, respectively.

#### 3. Aptamers

Aptamers are similar to antibodies in that they can bind to proteins and modulate their function, and they are referred to as chemical

#### Table 1

Advantages of recombinant antibody technology.

antibodies due to their synthetic production (Ahmadvand et al., 2011; Bouchard et al., 2010). Aptamers are short, single-stranded DNA or RNA oligonucleotides that can bind to their targets with high specificity and affinity through van der Waals forces, hydrogen bonding, salt bridges, and hydrophobic and other electrostatic interactions. Aptamers have the ability to fold into complex and stable three-dimensional shapes, which allows them to fold within or around their targets. DNA aptamers have greater chemical stability, while RNA aptamers produce more structural shapes due to their greater flexibility (Radom et al., 2013; Toh et al., 2015). Aptamers have been identified against targets that include small organic and inorganic molecules, such as dyes, nucleotides, amino acids, and drugs; biopolymers, such as peptides, proteins, and polysaccharides; ions; phospholipids; nucleic acids; viruses; bacteria; cell fragments; and whole cells (Kong and Byun, 2013; Li et al., 2011; Nezlin, 2014; Ni et al., 2011; Pei et al., 2014; Thiviyanathan and Gorenstein, 2012; Zhu et al., 2012, 2014).

Aptamers can be used to detect and characterize their targets and modify the activity of their targets. First reported in 1990, aptamers were conceptualized independently by three groups of researchers, Ellington and Szostak (1990), Robertson and Joyce (1990), and Tuerk and Gold (1990). Tuerk and Gold named the production process the Systematic Evolution of Ligands by Exponential Enrichment (SELEX) (Fig. 4).

#### 3.1. SELEX

The process of screening large nucleic acid pools to develop aptamers, SELEX, has been optimized since its development to meet a variety of needs (Radom et al., 2013; Tan et al., 2011). Mimicking natural selection, SELEX involves screening pools of random-sequence nucleic acid libraries for oligonucleotides that bind a particular target (Citartan et al., 2012; Radom et al., 2013). Automated DNA synthesizers prepare the libraries of up to approximately 10<sup>17</sup> random sequence oligonucleotides using equimolar mixtures of nucleotide bases during generation of the random regions (Zaher and Unrau, 2005).

- *High affinity*: The *in vitro* affinity maturation process allows for the production of antibodies with affinities in the picomolar to femtomolar range. Antibody properties, including affinity, can be controlled using methods such as increasing the number of panning iterations, adjusting washing stringency, presenting different selection conditions, and adjusting the amount and presentation of antigens (Donzeau and Knappik, 2007).
- High specificity: Altering antigens during panning iterations can select for cross-reactive rAbs and negative selection techniques (competition with related molecules) can be used to generate highly specific antibodies that can differentiate between similar targets (Ayriss et al., 2007; Mersmann et al., 2010; Parsons et al., 1996; Pershad et al., 2010; Donzeau and Knappik, 2007). For example, antibodies have been generated that recognize only fetal and not adult hemoglobin (Geyer et al., 2012).
- Variety of targets: Recombinant methods allow for the generation of antibodies against tissue samples, whole cells, small molecules, specific protein conformations, integral membrane proteins, RNA, post-translational modifications, and complexes, such as biotinylated major histocompatibility complex/peptide complexes (Geyer et al., 2012; Yau et al., 2003; ten Haaf et al., 2015; Lev et al., 2002; Pavoni et al., 2014; Moutel et al., 2009).
- Independent of a biological immune response: Unlike animal methods, recombinant techniques allow for the generation of antibodies to unstable, toxic, volatile, immunosuppressant, or non-immunogenic antigens (Chen and Sidhu, 2014; Frenzel et al., 2014; Hairul Bahara et al., 2013; Thie et al., 2009). For example, rAbs have been developed to target West Nile virus and Botulinum neurotoxins (Scholler, 2012). In addition, phage display technology requires less antigen to isolate an rAb than is needed to immunize an animal (Barkhordarian et al., 2006; Harper and Ziegler, 1999).

*Reduced immunogenicity*: Recombinant antibodies developed from human-derived libraries elicit a reduced immune response compared to animal-derived antibodies when used in therapeutic applications. This is especially relevant for the treatment of chronic diseases that require repeated doses over long periods of time (Rader, 2012).

Existing infrastructure: Recombinant antibodies can leverage the structural and intellectual infrastructure already in place for antibodies.

Animal welfare: There are no animal welfare issues with the production of rAbs (e.g., no animals are used, unless immune antibody libraries are derived from animals).

*Precisely controlled selection conditions*: Antibody selection conditions, such as the presence of salts, buffers, detergents, or a specific pH, can be controlled (Kierny et al., 2012; Thie et al., 2009). Control over selection parameters in the panning process has resulted in the ability to create antibodies with high affinity against proteins that have very similar sequences (Hairul Bahara et al., 2013).

*Known sequence*: Because the amino acid sequence of the antibody is known, its generation is reproducible, recombinant analogs of existing antibodies can be created, and modifications can be inserted into an antibody's sequence, such as to increase its affinity or modify biochemical properties (Altshuler et al., 2010; Bradbury and Plückthun, 2015). For example, rAbs have been conjugated with peptide tags and enzymes (Donzeau and Knappik, 2007). In addition, because the DNA sequence encoding the antibody is known, modifications such as biotinylation, multimerization, and the addition of epitope tags are easy to incorporate using simple cloning procedures (Casey et al., 2000).

Versatility: Recombinant antibody technology allows for the generation of smaller antibody fragments, such as monovalent or bivalent Fab or the complete immunoglobulin format, depending on downstream applications. Because the sequence of a rAb is known, fragments can be converted into and switched between any of the antibody classes using simple cloning techniques (Dozier, 2010).

*Faster production*: The phage display selection process is largely automated. Once an antibody library is established, it takes approximately two to eight weeks to produce a rAb, in contrast to the four or more months in animals (Dozier, 2010; Geyer et al., 2012; Ylera, 2010). Recombinant antibodies also are compatible with high-throughput methods (Chen and Sidhu, 2014; Hairul Bahara et al., 2013; Kotlan and Glassy, 2009).

Dependability: Unlike hybridoma cell lines, recombinant antibody supplies are not at risk of dying off. Because rAb's sequences are known, they can be reproduced by DNA synthesis if necessary. Additionally, standardized rAb production results in low lot-to-lot variability (Bradbury and Plückthun, 2015).

## Table 2

Considerations of recombinant antibody technology.

*Fragment conversion*: For some applications, such as many therapeutic uses, researchers will need to convert the antibody fragment selected during phage display into the full length immunoglobulin form by gene engineering (Hu et al., 2010).

*Construction of rAb libraries*: Immune libraries may be derived from humans or animals; however, the animal-derived libraries present scientific disadvantages, such as the production of antibodies that may need to be humanized to avoid side effects if administered to humans (Clementi et al., 2012).

Intellectual property: Intellectual property (IP) rights and the specific technological skills needed to create rAbs have slowed their adoption and are still impediments to rAb development (Echko and Dozier, 2010; Storz, 2011). IP issues may include patents providing exclusive rights to sell an antibody, which may be defined by its target, its functional properties, an epitope of a target, its sequence, or other attributes; patents for new indications for an already existing antibody; patents for antibodies used in conjunction with another agent; and patents for antibody formats, such as fragments or rearranged components of antibodies (Storz, 2011). However, development processes are now more routine, and development kits can be purchased. In addition, as more universities have started working with rAbs, more libraries have become available in the public domain (Shoemaker, 2005).

Cost: Cost has been a barrier to the adoption of rAbs. Production costs for rAbs are similar to those for animal-derived antibodies and should decrease over time (Bradbury and Plückthun, 2015). Animal-derived antibodies have been produced for decades; therefore, the technology and knowledge are widespread, and many antibodies do not have to be custom-developed. Currently, fewer rAbs have been developed and are available for production, making the initial investment in a new, custom-made rAb, as well as fit-for-purpose validation, costly. In the short-term, developing new technologies may be more expensive, but the price should decline because more universities and companies are becoming involved in rAb development. Additionally, the potential cost-savings associated with the more reproducible research that will result from using higher quality antibodies should be considered.

Larger libraries allow for greater sequence diversity and increased ability to develop high-specificity and high-affinity aptamers. Library oligonucleotides have a central randomized sequence of approximately 30 to 80 bases with defined terminal binding sites on each end for capturing and enzymatic manipulation. An immobilized target is incubated with the library, and the oligonucleotides that bind to the target are isolated, eluted, and amplified. This is accomplished by filter assay, chromatography, electrophoresis, or another separation method followed by polymerase chain reaction (PCR) for DNA or reverse transcription PCR (RT-PCR) for RNA (Ahmadvand et al., 2011; Bouchard et al., 2010; Bunka et al., 2010; Kong and Byun, 2013; Ni et al., 2011; Radom et al., 2013; Sundaram et al., 2013).

The cycle of isolation, elution, and amplification is repeated with increased stringency in order to select for oligonucleotides with greater sensitivity and/or specificity; this usually requires seven to fifteen iterations with increasing binding affinities (Bouchard et al., 2010; Bunka et al., 2010; Toh et al., 2015). In addition, selection parameters may be modified to screen for aptamers that meet particular conditions (e.g., pH, temperature, and buffer composition) (Radom et al., 2013). The pool of oligonucleotides that bind the target is then cloned, sequenced, and tested for target binding ability.

Finally, aptamer candidates are characterized and modified for their anticipated use. For example, aptamer modification can increase retention time in the body by imparting resistance to nuclease degradation or can incorporate a variety of functional groups for the purpose of conjugation with drug molecules, antibodies, fluorescent tags, or nanoparticles for diagnostic and therapeutic applications (Ahmadvand et al., 2011; Bouchard et al., 2010; Dassie and Giangrande, 2013; Kong and Byun, 2013; Nezlin, 2014; Šmuc et al., 2013; Sundaram et al., 2013).

There are a variety of modifications of the SELEX method, including negative-SELEX and counter-SELEX (Darmostuk et al., 2015). In negative-SELEX, oligonucleotides are incubated with the matrix used to immobilize the target before incubation with the actual target in order to reduce nonspecific binding (Aquino-Jarquin and Toscano-Garibay, 2011; Lakhin et al., 2013). In counter-SELEX, oligonucleotides are incubated with a target analog or with a range of structurally-similar but undesirable molecules before the actual target, thereby allowing for the removal of these potential interfering targets (Aquino-Jarquin and Toscano-Garibay, 2011). Other modifications, which reduce the time required for aptamer selection, include bead-based and microfluidic approaches. In the bead-based method, the oligonucleotide library is synthesized on noncleavable beads, and aptamers are identified in one step. In the microfluidic approach, researchers are able to select and characterize aptamers to multiple targets in days or weeks by carrying out the selection process on microfluidic chips (Dassie and Giangrande, 2013; Thiviyanathan and Gorenstein, 2012; Xu et al., 2010).



**Fig. 4.** Basic concept of SELEX, of which there are various modifications. SELEX involves: 1) random sequence oligonucleotides are synthesized with a central randomized region and terminal binding sites. 2) an immobilized target is incubated with the oligonucleotide library. 3) oligonucleotides that bind to the target are isolated, eluted, and amplified. This cycle is repeated until oligonucleotides with high binding affinity are selected for. 4) oligonucleotides that bind the target are cloned, sequenced, verified for binding ability, and modified for their intended use.

Another optimized process, Cell-SELEX, uses living cells to select for aptamers without prior knowledge of the molecular properties of the target. In this method, oligonucleotides are incubated with target cells, such as cancer cells. Oligonucleotides that bind with the target cells are selected, cloned, and sequenced in order to identify aptamers. The Cell-SELEX method has the ability to discover biomarkers of disease and novel cell-surface targets and to profile the molecular characteristics of target cells (Pei et al., 2014; Ray et al., 2013; Zhu et al., 2012, 2014). Due to their ability to distinguish between diseased and healthy cells, aptamers are a promising avenue for cancer treatment and personalized medicine (Sundaram et al., 2013). Aptamers have been selected for by Cell-SELEX for several types of cancer cells, including lymphocytic leukemia, myeloid leukemia, liver cancer, small and nonsmall-cell lung cancer cells, and hepatocellular carcinoma (Pei et al., 2014; Tan et al., 2011; Zhu et al., 2014). See Table 3 for advantages of aptamer technology and Table 4 for considerations of this technology.

#### 4. Applications of recombinant antibodies and aptamers

Monoclonal antibodies are used extensively in basic biomedical research, in diagnosis of disease, and in treatment of illnesses. Recombinant antibodies and aptamers can be used in the same applications as mAbs produced in animals, including in basic research, regulatory testing, and clinical applications.

#### 4.1. Basic research

In basic research, rAbs and aptamers can be conjugated with peptide tags, proteins, and nanoparticles to give them fluorescent properties to identify and detect the concentration of molecules, biological compounds, viruses, residues in food, and diseased cells (Esposito et al., 2014; Geyer et al., 2012; Hairul Bahara et al., 2013; Kierny et al., 2012; Pei et al., 2014; Penner, 2012; Zhu et al., 2012). They can be used in commonly-performed assays, such as immunofluorescence microscopy, microarrays, immunocytochemistry, immunohistochemistry, flow cytometry, ELISA, and blotting assays (Cho et al., 2011; Deng et al., 2014; Hairul Bahara et al., 2013; Ramos et al., 2007, 2010; Schirrmann et al., 2011; Shin et al., 2010; Simmons et al., 2012; Toh et al., 2015; Webber et al., 2014; Zeng et al., 2010).

#### Table 3

Advantages of aptamer technology.

1793 One of the most common basic research uses of antibodies is in the detection of proteins by Western blotting. The routine complications associated with Western blotting-including nonspecific binding that results in either cross reactivity with similar proteins or a lack of detectable signal compared to noise-have been extensively reported (Baker, 2015; Bradbury and Plückthun, 2015). The use of rAbs and aptamers overcomes many of the hurdles associated with the use of animal-derived antibodies. When using rAbs, it is important to remember that, if a Fab format is used instead of an immunoglobulin format, the secondary antibody cannot be directed against the Fc domain that is lacking in Fab antibodies. Instead, an antihuman Fab secondary antibody or antibodies against appropriate epitope tags can be used. Alternately, some companies have developed methods that allow for the direct detection of rAbs in the absence of a secondary antibody, for example by conjugation to a fluorescent dye (Ylera, 2010). Conjugation of an rAb or aptamer directly to a reporter unit such as a dye allows proteins to be identified in much of the same way as a traditional antibody, while allowing for greater specificity and sensitivity (Shin et al., 2010; Strehlitz et al., 2008). Multiple laboratories have reported protein blotting results using rAbs or aptamers to be comparable or superior to blots probed with traditional antibodies (Cho et al., 2011; Lazzarotto et al., 1997; Martin et al., 2013; Ramos et al., 2007, 2010; Shin et al., 2010; Webber et al., 2014). Others have published on the advantages, such as faster turn-around time. For example, Shin et al. (2010) detected their protein of interest via Western blot following a shorter incubation time (2 h versus overnight incubation) with an aptamer than with the animal-derived antibody. This same lab has developed an aptamer-based biochip technology that can be used for specific and sensitive detection and quantification of proteins (Lee and

#### 4.2. Regulatory testing

Hah, 2012).

The properties of rAbs and aptamers are ideal to aid safety and efficacy testing for regulatory purposes. For example, rAb technology has been used to develop an assay to determine vaccine potency, and a study conducted by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) demonstrated that aptamers can be used during the quality control testing of therapeutic proteins by detecting small differences

*Flexible structures*: Their flexible structures permit aptamers to bind to hidden epitopes, which antibodies are unable to reach (Pei et al., 2014; Zhu et al., 2014). *Modifications*: Aptamers have the ability to be easily modified to chemically conjugate with other molecules, such as imaging labels and siRNAs, and obtain new properties from the addition of functional groups (Amaya-González et al., 2013; Gold et al., 2010; Kong and Byun, 2013; Ni et al., 2011; Zhang et al., 2011; Zhu et al., 2014). Modifications

include optimizing the aptamer's recognition sequence or secondary structure, and changing the binding reaction conditions. Modifications can be introduced at any position in the nucleotide chain (Thiviyanathan and Gorenstein, 2012). *Stable:* Aptamers are stable in harsh chemical and physical conditions, such as at high temperatures (Šmuc et al., 2013; Thiviyanathan and Gorenstein, 2012; Zhang et al., 2011).

*Reproducible*: Aptamer technologies allow for easy access to underlying gene sequence information for characterization and optimization of binding and functional characteristics (Bannantine et al., 2007; Ramos et al., 2007; Shin et al., 2010).

*Reversible*: In human therapeutic applications, the addition of reverse complementary oligonucleotides can reverse an aptamer's action or allow for controlled drug release and, thus, minimize side effects (Sundaram et al., 2013). In addition, aptamers have the potential to reduce side effects through targeted treatment or targeted delivery of therapies, such as siRNAs, chemotherapeutics, toxins, and nanoparticles (Dassie and Giangrande, 2013; Esposito et al., 2014).

Repeat use: Denaturation of aptamers is reversible and, thus, aptamers can be repeatedly used under certain conditions (Šmuc et al., 2013; Toh et al., 2015). For example, heat, concentrated salt solutions, acidic or basic solutions, surfactants, and other methods can be used to release an antigen from an aptamer; the aptamer can then be refolded into a functional configuration (Toh et al., 2015; Yue et al., 2013).

Reliable: Because aptamers do not rely on biological processes, batch to batch variation is limited (Kong and Byun, 2013; Zhang et al., 2011).

Storage: Aptamers have the ability to be dehydrated and stored for years (Pendergrast et al., 2005).

Faster production: Aptamers are synthesized and modified *in vitro* and are relatively quick and inexpensive to produce compared to animal-based antibodies, allowing for large-scale production (Amaya-González et al., 2013; Nezlin, 2014; Noma et al., 2006; Zhu et al., 2014). Aptamers can be synthesized within days (Baird, 2010). Animal welfare: There are no animal welfare issues with the production of aptamers.

High affinity and specificity: Aptamers can have high affinity and binding specificity for their targets and recognize both intracellular and extracellular targets (Amaya-González et al., 2013; Citartan et al., 2012; Esposito et al., 2014; Ni et al., 2011; Pei et al., 2014). They are able to discriminate between highly similar molecules, and specificity can be adjusted by sequence modifications (Banerjee and Nilsen-Hamilton, 2013; Toh et al., 2015). In addition, because small changes in aptamer sequence can alter target specificity or the range of targets recognized, closely related aptamers can distinguish between similar targets (Gopinath et al., 2006).

Small size: At about one-tenth the molecular weight of antibodies, aptamers have the ability to access targets, such as viruses and other pathogens that escape recognition by the immune system (Bunka et al., 2010; Thiviyanathan and Gorenstein, 2012). They are also able to rapidly penetrate tissues (Tan et al., 2011; Zhu et al., 2012).

Independent of a biological immune response: Aptamers can be developed to bind to highly toxic or non-immunogenic antigens, unlike animal immunization technologies (Ahmadvand et al., 2011; Pei et al., 2014; Zhu et al., 2012, 2014).

## Table 4

Considerations of aptamer technology.

- Library synthesis: Large oligonucleotide libraries must be synthesized or purchased prior to aptamer development (Darmostuk et al., 2015).
- *Small size*: Because of their small size, aptamers are subject to faster renal filtration and nuclease degradation than antibodies (Lakhin et al., 2013; Taylor et al., 2014). Therefore, in therapeutic applications, aptamers are modified either during or after production to increase their half-lives, for example, by chemical modification of the phosphate backbone, sugars, or the bases or end-capping at the 3' or 5' termini (Bunka et al., 2010; De Souza et al., 2009; Nezlin, 2014; Thiviyanathan and Gorenstein, 2012; Zhu et al., 2014). Other modifications can be made to stabilize aptamer structures and to prolong aptamer circulation times. Modifications must be tested to ensure that they do not affect the aptamer's activity (Kong and Byun, 2013; Ni et al., 2011).
- Limited functional groups: Consisting of a sugar phosphate backbone and four bases, DNA and RNA have a limited number of functional groups; therefore, it can be difficult to develop aptamers for some targets (Taylor et al., 2014). For example, because it can be difficult to select an aptamer targeted to very acidic proteins, functional groups must be added to the oligonucleotide bases in these circumstances (Thiviyanathan and Gorenstein, 2012).
- Aptamer selection: The identification process for aptamers that bind to a target is not as well developed as it is for antibodies. Often, the ligand-binding domain of the selected aptamers does not involve all the nucleotides in the random region. Amplification of small concentrations of short molecules can result in artifacts, and the immobilization of the target onto resin can lead to the identification of aptamers for components of the resin if appropriate measures are not taken to counter this (Penner, 2012). This is an area requiring more research.
- High malleability: The high malleability of aptamers' structures in response to the local environment can decrease their affinity for targets in solution and *in vivo*. This is a key issue since the environment in which the aptamer undergoes the SELEX process may influence its utility. However, aptamer structure has been shown to be a function of the ionic environment, and knowledge of the environment in which the aptamer will be employed allows aptamer specificity and affinity to be better controlled (llgu et al., 2013).
- *Hybridization and nonspecific binding*: Hybridization of the random region in aptamers with the primer regions, which are adjacent to the central random domain and function to amplify the target-bound sequences via PCR, can alter the aptamer structure, and, therefore, its affinity for a target. Primer regions and/or regions distal to the ligand-binding domain of the aptamer may also cause nonspecific binding or compromise affinity (Alsager et al., 2015). Modifications of standard SELEX protocols have been implemented to address these issues (Pan and Clawson, 2009; Radom et al., 2013).
- Modifications: Traditional SELEX does not optimally select for aptamers that recognize cell surface receptors in their native state, undergo cellular uptake, and release in the cytoplasm of target cells. For example, a hurdle to using aptamers for siRNA therapeutics is cytoplasmic delivery into cells. These hurdles can be overcome by variations of the SELEX method and modifications of the aptamers (Dassie and Giangrande, 2013).
- *Pharmacokinetic profile*: In therapeutic applications, the pharmacokinetic profile, toxicity, and other properties of aptamers upon systemic delivery are poorly understood (Zhang et al., 2011).
- Intellectual property: Aptamers may be subject to intellectual property patents (Keefe et al., 2010). However, core patents that apply broadly to aptamers and aptamer discovery and development expired recently or will be expiring in the next couple of years (Archemix Corp., 2008).

Protocol and reagent availability: While antibody assay protocols and reagents are widely available in laboratories, a large part of the scientific community is not yet familiar with aptamer protocols and secondary reagents.

among protein products that went undetected by animal-based mAbs. Additionally, the U.K.'s Department of Environment, Food, and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) conducted a project to develop aptamers for rabies batch potency testing with the aim of replacing mice used to develop antibodies for the detection of contaminants in vaccine preparations (Department for Environment Food and Rural Affairs; Weidanz, 2014; Zichel et al., 2012).

Similarly, aptamers and rAbs can replace the use of animal-derived antibodies to detect environmental contaminants. For example, researchers at the University of Illinois and the University of Waterloo developed an aptamer-based colorimetric sensor test kit to detect an analyte in an aqueous test sample (Lu and Liu, 2013).

#### 4.3. Clinical applications

#### 4.3.1. Imaging

Aptamers' small size, reduced immunogenicity relative to animalderived antibodies, and rapid diffusion and clearance make them ideal for imaging (Ni et al., 2011; Toh et al., 2015). Clinical applications for rAbs and aptamer-based imaging agents are widespread, including for treatment monitoring and cancer detection (Hong et al., 2011). For example, aptamers targeting cancer biomarkers can be conjugated with nanomaterials for tumor imaging (Lao et al., 2015). Due to the specificity and binding affinity of aptamers to their targets, cancer cells can be detected at low levels (Pei et al., 2014).

## 4.3.2. Therapeutics

Recombinant antibodies and aptamers have been used in therapeutic applications to alter target activity, for example, by binding to cell surface receptors, or by delivery of therapeutic agents to target cells via conjuation to antibiotics, RNA interference, toxins, enzymes, or drugs (Ahmadvand et al., 2011; Bunka et al., 2010; Dassie and Giangrande, 2013; Esposito et al., 2014; Nezlin, 2014; Pei et al., 2014; Sundaram et al., 2013; Zhu et al., 2012). Aptamer and rAb development methods in which cells (instead of purified proteins) are used as targets are useful for developing aptamers and antibodies for drug delivery to targeted

cells (Geyer et al., 2012). Aptamers also have the ability to deliver agents that are otherwise impermeable to cells because they can target internal cell surface receptors in some circumstances (Xiao et al., 2008). Recombinant antibodies and aptamers are potential tools to treat a range of conditions, including the following:

- Autoimmune conditions: For example, an RNA aptamer has been developed that suppresses activity of sphingolipid S1P, a signaling molecule implicated in autoimmune conditions (Purschke et al., 2014).
- *Toxins*: Recombinant antibodies have been developed to neutralize toxins, such as botulinum neurotoxin A, staphylococcal enterotoxin B, and snake venom (Hu et al., 2010; Unkauf et al., 2015).
- *Chronic diseases*: Aptamers have been shown to have the ability to modify T-cell reactions (Nezlin, 2014).
- Diseases caused by pathogens: Includes human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), hepatitis B and C viruses, influenza virus, and many others (Feng et al., 2011; Gao et al., 2014; Wandtke et al., 2015; Zhu et al., 2012). Using immune libraries created from B cells isolated from donors, phage display has been used to create rAbs to block the entry of influenza into cells (Geyer et al., 2012). Aptamers are small and have a flexible structure and, therefore, are more likely to penetrate into a viral particle than antibodies. In one case, an aptamer was reported to prevent viral entry and replication in cultured human cells by up to 10,000 fold by binding a core region of the HIV viral protein (Banerjee and Nilsen-Hamilton, 2013).
- Cancer: Aptamers have been developed to target the extracellular domain of transmembrane receptors over-expressed in tumors and can potentially deliver therapeutic agents to targeted tissues. Both aptamers and rAbs can be conjugated to imaging probes, siRNAs, and therapeutics to be delivered specifically to the cancer cells, thereby increasing treatment efficacy and decreasing side effects (Esposito et al., 2014).

Currently marketed rAbs can be used to treat a variety of diseases. For example, ecallantide is used for the treatment of acute attacks of hereditary angioedema, and belimumab is used to treat the autoimmune disease systemic lupus erythematosus (Center for Drug Evaluation and Research, 2011; Seymour, 2009). Recombinant antibodies have been produced for the treatment of other diseases, such as cancer or autoimmune conditions (e.g., necitumumab and ramucirumab), and the neutralization of toxins (e.g., raxibacumab for the treatment of inhalation anthrax) (Center for Drug Evaluation and Research, 2012; Nixon et al., 2014).

The aptamer drug pegaptanib was approved by the FDA in 2004 for the treatment of macular degeneration (NDA 021756). Other aptamers are currently being assessed in clinical trials, and aptamers for hundreds of targets have been discovered (Darmostuk et al., 2015; Dassie and Giangrande, 2013; Ni et al., 2011). As seen in the wide range of ongoing clinical trials, aptamers can be used to treat a variety of conditions from vision loss to cancer (NIH Office of Animal Care and Use, 1996).

#### 5. Discussion

Recombinant antibodies and aptamers are two types of affinity reagents that can replace animal-derived mAbs and offer a range of technological advantages. From a scientific perspective, it is clear that there is a strong need for more reliable, specific, and versatile affinity reagents (Baker, 2015; Bradbury and Plückthun, 2015; NIH, 2015). Recombinant antibodies and aptamers meet that need; they can be sequenced and reproduced, selected for in controlled conditions, modified to fill a specific purpose, bind a variety of targets with high affinity, and offer financial and time-saving benefits over animal-derived mAbs.

Animal welfare principles provide further impetus to the use of rAbs and aptamers because they stress replacement, reduction, and refinement of the use of animals by seeking, considering, and implementing modern alternatives to the use of animals. Hundreds of thousands of animals are used in the production of affinity reagents every year. The number of animals used in antibody production in the U.S. is unavailable because the numbers of mice and rats used in testing are not publically available, and, for species whose numbers are available, the manner in which they are used is not reported. However, in 2013 alone, 9522 animals were documented to be used in the production of monoclonal or polyclonal antibodies in Great Britain (Home Office, 2014). Thus, in addition to meeting a scientific need, the development and further use of rAbs and aptamers satisfies a recognized ethical need.

#### 5.1. Antibody regulations in the European Union and the United States

In general, two European laws regulate the use of animals in research: (1) Council Directive 2010/63/EU (formerly 86/609/EEC) and (2) the European Convention for the Protection of Vertebrate Animals Used for Experimental and Other Scientific Purposes, ETS 123 (Council of Europe, 2006; European Parliament, 2010). These laws require that

#### Table 5

Names and websites for companies offering commercially available (pre-made and custom) rAbs and aptamers. Note that this list is not comprehensive, and a number of the companies listed sell animal-derived antibodies in addition to rAbs.

Company Name	Website
Catalog recombinant antibodies Bio-Rad AbD Serotec (host HuCAL) Absolute Antibody Creative Diagnostics (including Creative BioMart)	http://www.abdserotec.com/monoclonal-antibodies.html http://absoluteantibody.com/catalog/ Diagnostics: http://www.creative-diagnostics.com/CommonTypeList_185.htm; BioMart: http://www.creativebiomart.net/Recombinant-Antibodies_140.htm
RayBiotech, Inc. Toronto Recombinant Antibody Centre University of Geneva	http://www.raybiotech.com/products/reagents/antibodies/ http://trac.utoronto.ca/index.html https://www.unige.ch/medecine/phym/en/antibodies/see-our-antibodies/
Custom recombinant antibodies Bio-Rad AbD Serotec Absolute Antibody Abgent Avantgen AxioMx Toronto Recombinant Antibody Centre University of Geneva	http://www.abdserotec.com/hucal-monoclonals.html http://absoluteantibody.com/custom-services/ http://www.abgent.com/ELITE-Services-for-Drug-Discovery http://avantgen.com/partner.html http://axiomxinc.com/services/custom-antibodies/ http://trac.utoronto.ca/index.html https://www.unige.ch/medecine/phym/en/antibodies/order-a-new-recombinant-antibody/
Catalog aptamers Amsbio Aptagen AptSci Base Pair Biotechnologies CD Genomics Creative Biogene GeneLink OTC Biotech SomaLogic	http://www.amsbio.com/aptamers.aspx http://www.aptagen.com/aptamer-index/aptamer-list.aspx http://www.aptsci.com/product/product.html http://www.basepairbio.com/project-phases-2/existing-aptamers/ http://www.creative-biogene.com/Aptamers-list-40.html http://www.creative-biogene.com/Product/Aptamers-list-40.html http://www.genelink.com/newsite/products/modoligosINFO.asp http://www.otcbiotech.com/aptamers.php http://estore.somalogic.com/Category/2_1/Reagents.aspx
Custom aptamers AM Biotech Aptagen AptaMatrix AptSci Aptasol Base Pair Biotechnologies CD Genomics	http://am-biotech.com/services/ http://www.aptagen.com/research-and-development/project-inquiry.aspx http://www.aptamatrix.com/company/ http://www.aptamatrix.com/pro_1.html http://www.aptamergroup.co.uk/Solutions/Services/Ordering http://www.basepairbio.com/services/ http://www.basepairbio.com/services/ http://www.d-genomics.com/Aptamers-Service.html?gclid=Cj0KEQiA8rilBRDZu_ G8hszXraoBEiQABIB9Y3BfTCZFZ851eyKp6gD- 004zwk.AuFKfzdlB4uI0X00.apm2689BHA0
Creative Biogene GeneLink LC Sciences NeoVentures Biotechnology SomaLogic TriLink	http://www.creative-biogene.com/Services/Aptamers http://www.genelink.com/newsite/products/aptamers.asp http://www.lcsciences.com/applications/genomics/dna-rna-aptamer-arrays/ordering-information/ http://neoventures.ca/custom-aptamer-identification/ http://www.somalogic.com/Products-Services/SOMAmer-Discovery-Service.aspx http://www.trilinkbiotech.com/aptamers/aptamersynthesis.asp

alternatives to animals be used when "reasonably and practicably available."

Furthermore, the use of the ascites method specifically has been discouraged by regulatory and oversight bodies for decades due to the pain and distress it causes the animals used in the process. In fact, a report from a 1996 European Union Reference Laboratory for Alternatives to Animal Testing (EURL ECVAM) organized workshop stated that the ascites method should not be used and suggested a two-year transition period to phase it out (Marx et al., 1997). A number of countries, such as Australia, The Netherlands, the United Kingdom, Germany, Switzerland, and Canada, have restricted or banned the production of antibodies via the ascites method due to animal welfare concerns (Canadian Council on Animal Care, 2002; Hendriksen, 2006; National Health and Medical Research Council, 2008).

As far back as 1997, the NIH Office of Laboratory Animal Welfare encouraged the use of "in vitro" methods for producing mAbs as opposed to the use of the ascites method (Animal Welfare Division of OPRR, 1997). In April 1997 and March 1998, the American Anti-Vivisection Society (AAVS) petitioned the NIH to prohibit the use of animals in the production of mAbs (NRC, 1999). In response, the NIH commissioned a study from the National Research Council (NRC) to determine whether there is a scientific necessity for producing mAbs using the mouse method. Completed in 1999, the NRC report called for the replacement of ascites-derived mAbs with "in vitro" methods wherever possible (NRC, 1999). At that time, the NRC determined that the use of ascites was only scientifically justified in three to five percent of proposed uses. Information about rAbs and aptamers was not included in the original NRC study. In the more than 15 years since this report was published, significant advances have been made in rAb and aptamer technology, highlighting the need for an updated version of this NIH guidance.

#### 5.2. Recommendations

Multiple paths forward have the potential to assist researchers in the transition from animal-derived antibodies to non-animal sources, such as the following:

- In light of tremendous scientific advancements since the publication of the NRC report *Monoclonal Antibody Production* in 1999, NIH should commission an updated review that includes the merits of nonanimal-derived antibodies and other affinity reagents (NRC, 1999).
- Researchers should familiarize themselves with and use non-animal research methods such as those offered by aptamer and rAb technologies whenever possible and, when using antibodies, should search for existing rAbs from companies, such as those listed in Table 5.
- Federal funding incentives should be made available for researchers interested in the development, use, and fit-for-purpose validation of rAbs or aptamers.
- Universities should provide monetary assistance to researchers who are interested in using rAbs but do not have the funds to purchase custom-made antibodies.
- A consortium of industry, academia, government, and nongovernmental organizations should fund the development of commonly used affinity reagents to be made available to all researchers.
- For industry, the use of rAb and aptamer technologies for regulatory testing purposes must be considered. In 1999, the NRC reported that the FDA estimated that it would cost between two and ten million dollars to prove equivalence of an "*in vitro*" antibody to a mAb previously produced via the ascites method (NRC, 1999). While fit-for-purpose validation is likely less expensive today, seemingly small procedural changes can lead to significant costs for companies conducting regulatory testing, and incentives should be implemented so that companies are not penalized for switching to a more sophisticated and humane technology.
- · To help rAb and aptamer developers identify key areas of interest, a

list of ascites-produced antibodies purchased by researchers and the justification for using the ascites method of production should be made publicly available. This will allow developers of alternative technologies to focus efforts on the development of these antibodies via recombinant methods.

 To take advantage of resources already spent on developing and validating existing hybridoma monoclonal antibodies, existing hybridomas should be sequenced and produced using recombinant technology moving forward (Bradbury and Plückthun, 2015).

As outlined, once technological knowledge and the supporting infrastructure are established, rAbs and aptamers require less time to produce, require less purified antigen, and can be created against a larger number of targets than mAbs (Petrenko and Vodyanoy, 2003). These technologies are the way forward to increased scientific validity and reproducibility and to accelerated research in the life sciences.

#### Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank Dr. Kenneth McNatty and Dr. Dong Barraclough for their helpful input.

#### References

- Ahmadvand, D., Rahbarizadeh, F., Moghimi, S.M., 2011. Biological targeting and innovative therapeutic interventions with phage-displayed peptides and structured nucleic acids (aptamers). Curr. Opin. Biotechnol. 22, 832–838.
- Alsager, O.A., Kumar, S., Zhu, B., Travas-Sejdic, J., McNatty, K.P., Hodgkiss, J.M., 2015. Ultrasensitive colorimetric detection of 17beta-estradiol: the effect of shortening DNA aptamer sequences. Anal. Chem. 87, 4201–4209.
- Altshuler, E.P., Serebryanaya, D.V., Katrukha, A.G., 2010. Generation of recombinant antibodies and means for increasing their affinity. Biochemistry 75, 1584–1605.
- Amaya-González, S., de-los-Santos-Alvarez, N., Miranda-Ordieres, A.J., Lobo-Castañón, M.J., 2013. Aptamer-based analysis: a promising alternative for food safety control. Sensors (Basel) 13, 16292–16311.
- Animal Welfare Division of OPRR, 1997. Production of Monoclonal Antibodies Using Mouse Ascites Method. NIH Document Number 98–01.
- Aquino-Jarquin, G., Toscano-Garibay, J.D., 2011. RNA aptamer evolution: two decades of SELEction. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 12, 9155–9171.
- Archemix Corp., 2008. United States Securities and Exchange Commission Amendment No. 7 to Form S-1 Registration Statement Under the Securities Act of 1933. Washington, DC.
- AxioMx, 2015. Our technologies. http://axiomxinc.com/technology/our-technologies/ (Accessed March 6).
- Ayriss, J., Woods, T., Bradbury, A., Pavlik, P., 2007. High-throughput screening of singlechain antibodies using multiplexed flow cytometry. J. Proteome Res. 6, 1072–1082.
- Baird, G.S., 2010. Where are all the aptamers? Am. J. Clin. Pathol. 134, 529–531.
- Baker, M., 2015. Reproducibility crisis: blame it on the antibodies. Nature 521, 274–276. Banerjee, J., Nilsen-Hamilton, M., 2013. Aptamers: multifunctional molecules for biomedical research. J. Mol. Med. 91, 1333–1342.
- Bannantine, J.P., Radosevich, T.J., Stabel, J.R., Sreevatsan, S., Kapur, V., Paustian, M.L., 2007. Development and characterization of monoclonal antibodies and aptamers against major antigens of Mycobacterium avium subsp. paratuberculosis. Clin. Vaccine Immunol. 14, 518–526.
- Barkhordarian, H., Emadi, S., Sierks, M., 2006. Isolating recombinant antibodies against specific protein morphologies using atomic force microscopy and phage display technologies. Protein Eng. Des. Sel. 19, 497–502.
- Berglund, L., Bjorling, E., Oksvold, P., Fagerberg, L., Asplund, A., Al-Khalili Sziguarto, C., et al., 2008. A genecentric human protein atlas for expression profiles based on antibodies. Mol. Cell. Proteomics 7, 2019–2027.
- Boder, E.T., Midelfort, K.S., Wittrup, K.D., 2000. Directed evolution of antibody fragments with monovalent femtomolar antigen-binding affinity. PNAS 97, 10701–10705.
- Bouchard, P.R., Hutabarat, R.M., Thompson, K.M., 2010. Discovery and development of therapeutic aptamers. Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 50, 237–257.
- Bradbury, A., Plückthun, A., 2015. Reproducibility: standardize antibodies used in research. Nature 518, 27–29.
- Bunka, D.H.J., Platonova, O., Stockley, P.G., 2010. Development of aptamer therapeutics. Curr. Opin. Pharmacol. 10, 557–562.
- Canadian Council on Animal Care, 2002. Guidelines on: Antibody Production.
- Casey, J.L., Coley, A.M., Tilley, L.M., Foley, M., 2000. Green fluorescent antibodies: novel in vitro tools. Protein Eng. 13, 445–452.
- Center for Drug Evaluation and Research, 2011. Center for Drug Evaluation and Research Application Number 125370 Summary Review.
- Center for Drug Evaluation and Research, 2012. Center for Drug Evaluation and Research Application Number 1253490rig1s000 Summary Review. FDA.
- Chen, G., Sidhu, S.S., 2014. Design and generation of synthetic antibody libraries for phage display. In: Ossipow, V., Fischer, N. (Eds.), Monoclonal Antibodies. Humana Press, Totowa, NJ, pp. 113–131.

- Cho SJ, Woo HM, Kim K-S, Oh J-W, Jeong YJ. Novel system for detecting SARS coronavirus nucleocapsid protein using an ssDNA aptamer. J. Biosci. Bioeng. 2011;112:e1347e4421.
- Citartan, M., Gopinath, S.C.B., Tominaga, J., Tan, S.-C., Tang, T.-H., 2012. Assays for aptamer-based platforms. Biosens. Bioelectron. 34, 1–11.
- Clementi, N., Mancini, N., Solforosi, L., Castelli, M., Clementi, M., Burioni, R., 2012. Phage display-based strategies for cloning and optimization of monoclonal antibodies directed against human pathogens. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 13, 8273–8292.
- Collins, F.S., Tabak, L.A., 2014. Policy: NIH plans to enhance reproducibility. Nature 505, 612–613.
- Coomber, D.W.J., 2001. Panning of Antibody Phage-Display Libraries: Standard Protocols. Antibody Phage Display. Humana Press, New Jersey, pp. 133–145.
- Council of Europe, 2006. Of the European Convention for the Protection of Vertebrate Animals Used for Experimental and Other Scientific Purposes (ETS No. 123) (Strasbourg).
- Darmostuk, M., Rimpelova, S., Gbelcova, H., Ruml, T., 2015. Current approaches in SELEX: an update to aptamer selection technology. Biotechnol. Adv.
- Dassie, J.P., Giangrande, P.H., 2013. Current progress on aptamer-targeted oligonucleotide therapeutics. Ther. Deliv. 4, 1527–1546.
- de Geus, B., Hendriksen, C.F., 1998. In vivo and in vitro production of monoclonal antibodies: current possibilities and future perspectives. Introduction. Res. Immunol. 149, 533–534.
- De Souza, E.B., Cload, S.T., Pendergrast, P.S., Sah, D.W., 2009. Novel therapeutic modalities to address nondrugable protein interaction targets. Neuropsychopharmacology 34, 142–158.
- Deng, B., Lin, Y., Wang, C., Li, F., Wang, Z., Zhang, H., et al., 2014. Aptamer binding assays for proteins: the thrombin example–a review. Anal. Chim. Acta 837, 1–15.
- Department for Environment Food and Rural Affairs. Development of aptamer-based technology to detect residues of veterinary drugs, and constituents of vaccines – VM02162. http://randd.defra.gov.uk/Default.aspx?Menu=Menu&Module= More&Location=None&Completed=2&ProjectID=16304. (Accessed March 10, 2015).
- Donzeau, M., Knappik, A., 2007. Recombinant monoclonal antibodies. In: Albitar, M. (Ed.), Monoclonal Antibodies. Humana Press, Totowa, NJ, pp. 15–31.
- Dozier, S., 2010. Special Section: Monoclonal Antibodies Altweb, http://altweb.jhsph.edu/ mabs/mabs.html Accessed February 17, 2015.
- Echko, M., Dozier, S., 2010. Recombinant Antibody Technology for the Production of Antibodies Without the Use of Animals AltTox.org, http://www.alttox.org/ttrc/ emerging-technologies/cell-based/way-forward/echko-dozier/ (Accessed February 17, 2015).
- Eisenhardt, S.U., Schwarz, M., Bassler, N., Peter, K., 2007. Subtractive single-chain antibody (scFv) phage-display: tailoring phage-display for high specificity against functionspecific conformations of cell membrane molecules. Nat. Protoc. 2, 3063–3073.
- Ellington, A.D., Szostak, J.W., 1990. In vitro selection of RNA molecules that bind specific ligands. Nature 346, 818–822.
- Esposito, C.L., Catuogno, S., de Franciscis, V., 2014. Aptamer-mediated selective delivery of short RNA therapeutics in cancer cells. J. RNAi Gene Silenc. 10, 500–506.
- European Parliament, 2010. OJ on the Protection of Animals Used for Scientific Purposes (2010/63/EU).
- Even-Desrumeaux, K., Chames, P., 2012. Phage display and selections on cells. In: Chames, P. (Ed.), Antibody Engineering. Humana Press, Totowa, NJ, pp. 225–235.
- Feng, H., Beck, J., Nassal, M., Hu, K.-H., 2011. A SELEX-screened aptamer of human hepatitis B virus RNA encapsidation signal suppresses viral replication. PLoS One 6, e27862 (-e).
- Foote, J., Eisen, H.N., 1995. Kinetic and affinity limits on antibodies produced during immune responses. PNAS 92, 1254–1256.
- Foote, J., Eisen, H.N., 2000. Breaking the affinity ceiling for antibodies and T cell receptors. PNAS 97, 10679–10681.
- Frenzel, A., Kügler, J., Wilke, S., Schirrmann, T., Hust, M., 2014. Construction of human antibody gene libraries and selection of antibodies by phage display. Methods Mol. Biol. 1060, 215–243.
- Gao, J., Sidhu, S.S., Wells, J.A., 2009. Two-state selection of conformation-specific antibodies. PNAS 106, 3071–3076.
- Gao, Y., Yu, X., Xue, B., Zhou, F., Wang, X., Yang, D., et al., 2014. Inhibition of hepatitis C virus infection by DNA aptamer against NS2 protein. PLoS One 9, e90333.
- Geyer, C.R., McCafferty, J., Dubel, S., Bradbury, A.R., Sidhu, S.S., 2012. Recombinant antibodies and in vitro selection technologies. Methods Mol. Biol. 901, 11–32.
- Gold, L., Ayers, D., Bertino, J., Bock, C., Bock, A., Brody, E.N., et al., 2010. Aptamerbased multiplexed proteomic technology for biomarker discovery. PLoS One 5, e15004.
- Gopinath, S.C., Misono, T.S., Kawasaki, K., Mizuno, T., Imai, M., Odagiri, T., et al., 2006. An RNA aptamer that distinguishes between closely related human influenza viruses and inhibits haemagglutinin-mediated membrane fusion. J. Gen. Virol. 87, 479–487.
- Hairul Bahara, N.H., Tye, G.J., Choong, Y.S., Ong, E.B.B., Ismail, A., Lim, T.S., 2013. Phage display antibodies for diagnostic applications. Biologicals 41, 209–216.
- Hanes, J., Schaffitzel, C., Knappik, A., Pluckthun, A., 2000. Picomolar affinity antibodies from a fully synthetic naive library selected and evolved by ribosome display. Nat. Biotechnol. 18, 1287–1292.
- Harel Inbar, N., Benhar, I., 2012. Selection of antibodies from synthetic antibody libraries. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 526, 87–98.
- Harper, K., Ziegler, A., 1999. Recombinant Antibodies: Applications in Plant Science and Plant Pathology. CRC Press.
- Hendriksen, C.F., 2006. Replacement, reduction and refinement in the production and quality control of immunobiologicals. AATEX 11, 155–161.
- Hendriksen, C.F., de Leeuw, W., 1998. Production of monoclonal antibodies by the ascites method in laboratory animals. Res. Immunol. 149, 535–542.

- Hoffhines, A.J., Damoc, E., Bridges, K.G., Leary, J.A., Moore, K.L., 2006. Detection and purification of tyrosine-sulfated proteins using a novel anti-sulfotyrosine monoclonal antibody. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 37877–37887.
- Holliger, P., Hudson, P.J., 2005. Engineered antibody fragments and the rise of single domains. Nat. Biotechnol. 23, 1126–1136.
- Home Office, 2014. Annual Statistics of Scientific Procedure on Living Animals Great Britain 2013. p. 42 (Table 7).
- Hong, H., Goel, S., Zhang, Y., Cai, W., 2011. Molecular imaging with nucleic acid aptamers. Curr. Med. Chem. 18, 4195–4205.
- Howard, G.C., Kaser, M.R., 2013. Making and Using Antibodies: a Practical Handbook, Second Edition. CRC Press.
- Hu, W.G., Jager, S., Chau, D., Chau, D., Mah, D., Mah, D., et al., 2010. Generation of a recombinant full-length human antibody binding to botulinum neurotoxin A. Appl. Biochem. Biotechnol. 160, 1206–1216.
- Ilgu, M., Wang, T., Lamm, M.H., Nilsen-Hamilton, M., 2013. Investigating the malleability of RNA aptamers. Methods 63, 178–187.
- Jackson, L.R., Trudel, L.J., Fox, J.G., Lipman, N.S., 1999. Monoclonal antibody production in murine ascites I. Clinical and pathologic features. Lab. Anim. Sci. 49, 70–80.
- Keefe, A.D., Pai, S., Ellington, A., 2010. Aptamers as therapeutics. Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 9, 537–550.
- Kehoe, J.W., Velappan, N., Walbolt, M., Rasmussen, J., King, D., Lou, J., et al., 2006. Using phage display to select antibodies recognizing post-translational modifications independently of sequence context. Mol. Cell. Proteomics 5, 2350–2363.
- Kierny, M.R., Cunningham, T.D., Kay, B.K., 2012. Detection of biomarkers using recombinant antibodies coupled to nanostructured platforms. Nano Rev. 3.
- Köhler, G., Milstein, C., 1975. Continuous cultures of fused cells secreting antibody of predefined specificity. Nature 256, 495–497.
- Kong, H.Y., Byun, J., 2013. Nucleic Acid aptamers: new methods for selection, stabilization, and application in biomedical science. Biomol. Ther. (Seoul) 21, 423–434.
- Kotlan, B., Glassy, M.C., 2009. Antibody phage display: overview of a powerful technology that has quickly translated to the clinic. In: Aitken, R. (Ed.), Antibody Phage Display. Humana Press, Totowa, NJ, pp. 1–15.
- Lakhin, A.V., Tarantul, V.Z., Gening, L.V., 2013. Aptamers: problems, solutions and prospects. Acta Nat. 5, 34–43.
- Lao, Y.H., Phua, K.K., Leong, K.W., 2015. Aptamer nanomedicine for cancer therapeutics: barriers and potential for translation. ACS Nano 9, 2235–2254.
- Lazzarotto, T., Maine, G.T., Dal Monte, P., Ripalti, A., Landini, M.P., 1997. A novel Western blot test containing both viral and recombinant proteins for anticytomegalovirus immunoglobulin M detection. J. Clin. Microbiol. 35, 393–397.
- Lee, G.H., Hah, S.S., 2012. Coomassie blue is sufficient for specific protein detection of aptamer-conjugated chips. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 22, 1520–1522.
- Lee, C.V., Liang, W.C., Dennis, M.S., Eigenbrot, C., Sidhu, S.S., Fuh, G., 2004. High-affinity human antibodies from phage-displayed synthetic Fab libraries with a single framework scaffold. J. Mol. Biol. 340, 1073–1093.
- Lev, A., Denkberg, G., Cohen, C., Tzukerman, M., Skorecki, K., Chames, P., Hoogenboom, H., Reiter, Y., 2002. Isolation and characterization of human recombinant antibodies endowed with the antigen-specific, major histocompatibility complex-restricted specificity of T cells directed toward the widely expressed tumor T-cell epitopes of the telomerase catalytic subunit. Cancer Res. 62, 3184–3194.
- Li, J., Tan, S., Chen, X., Zhang, C.Y., Zhang, Y., 2011. Peptide aptamers with biological and therapeutic applications. Curr. Med. Chem. 18, 4215–4222.
- Lloyd, C., Lowe, D., Edwards, B., Welsh, F., Dilks, T., Hardman, C., et al., 2009. Modelling the human immune response: performance of a 1011 human antibody repertoire against a broad panel of therapeutically relevant antigens. Protein Eng. Des. Sel. 22, 159–168.
- Lu, Y., Liu, J., 2013. Aptamer-Based Colorimetric Sensor Systems. The Board Of Trustees Of The University Of Illinois.
- Martin, M.E., Garcia-Hernandez, M., Garcia-Recio, E.M., Gomez-Chacon, G.F., Sanchez-Lopez, M., Gonzalez, V.M., 2013. DNA aptamers selectively target Leishmania infantum H2A protein. PLoS One 8, e78886.
- Marx, U., Merz, W., 1995. In Vivo and In Vitro Production of Monoclonal Antibodies: Bioreactors Vs Immune Ascites. Monoclonal Antibody Protocols. Humana Press, New Jersey, pp. 169–176.
- Marx, U, Embleton, M., Fischer, R., Gruber, F., Hansson, U., Heuer, J., et al., 1997. Monoclonal antibody production: the report and recommendations of ECVAM workshop 23. ATLA 25, 121–137.
- McArdle, J., 1997. Alternatives to ascites production of monoclonal antibodies. Anim. Welf. Inf. Cent. Newsl. 8, 15.
- McCafferty, J., Griffiths, A., Winter, G., Chiswell, D., 1990. Phage antibodies: filamentous phage displaying antibody variable domains. Nature 348 (6301), 552–554.
- McGuill, M.W., Rowan, A.N., 1989. Refinement of monoclonal antibody production and animal well-being. ILAR J. 31, 7–11.
- McNutt, M., 2014. Journals unite for reproducibility. Science 346, 679.
- Mersmann, M., Meier, D., Mersmann, J., Helmsing, S., Nilsson, P., Graslund, S., et al., 2010. Towards proteome scale antibody selections using phage display. New Biotechnol. 27, 118–128.
- Moutel, S., Vielemeyer, O., Jin, H., Divoux, S., Benaroch, P., Perez, F., 2009. Fully in vitro selection of recombinanat antibodies. Biotechnol. J. 4, 38–43.
- National Health and Medical Research Council, 2008. Guidelines for Monoclonal Antibody Production.
- Nezlin, R., 2014. Aptamers in immunological research. Immunol. Lett. 162, 252–255.
- Ni, X., Castanares, M., Mukherjee, A., Lupold, S.E., 2011. Nucleic acid aptamers: clinical applications and promising new horizons. Curr. Med. Chem. 18, 4206–4214.
- NIH, 2015. Principles and guidelines for reporting preclinical research Bethesda, MD, http://www.nih.gov/science/reproducibility/principles-guidelines.htm (Accessed June 13, 2015).

NIH Office of Animal Care and Use, 1996. Guidelines for Ascites Production in Mice. http://oacu.od.nih.gov/ARAC/documents/Ascites.pdf (Accessed February 4, 2015).

Nixon, A.E., Sexton, D.J., Ladner, R.C., 2014. Drugs derived from phage display. mAbs 6, 73–85.

- Nizak, C., Monier, S., del Nery, E., Moutel, S., Goud, B., Perez, F., 2003. Recombinant antibodies to the small GTPase Rab6 as conformation sensors. Science 300, 984–987.
- Nizak, C., Moutel, S., Goud, B., Perez, F., 2005. Selection and application of recombinant antibodies as sensors of rab protein conformation. Methods Enzymol. 403, 135–153
- Noma, T., Ikebukuro, K., Sode, K., Ohkubo, T., Sakasegawa, Y., Hachiya, N., et al., 2006. A screening method for DNA aptamers that bind to a specific, unidentified protein in tissue samples. Biotechnol. Lett. 28, 1377–1381.
- NRC, 1999. Monoclonal Antibody Production. Report of the Committee on Methods for Producing Monoclonal Antibodies. National Academy Press, Washington, D.C.
- OECD, 2002. Guidance Document on the Recognition, Assessment and Use of Clinical Signs as Humane Endpoints for Experimental Animals Used in Safety Evaluation. Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, Paris.
- Pan, W., Clawson, G.A., 2009. The shorter the better: reducing fixed primer regions of oligonucleotide libraries for aptamer selection. Molecules 14, 1353–1369.
- Parsons, H.L., Earnshaw, J.C., Wilton, J., Johnson, K.S., Schueler, P.A., Mahoney, W., et al., 1996. Directing phage selections towards specific epitopes. Protein Eng. 9, 1043–1049.
- Pavoni, E., Vaccaro, P., Anastasi, A., Minenkova, O., 2014. Optimized selection of antitumor recombinant antibodies from phage libraries on intact cells. Mol. Immunol. 57, 317–322.
- Pei, X., Zhang, J., Liu, J., 2014. Clinical applications of nucleic acid aptamers in cancer. Mol. Clin. Oncol. 2, 341–348.
- Pendergrast, P.S., Marsh, H.N., Grate, D., Healy, J.M., Stanton, M., 2005. Nucleic acid aptamers for target validation and therapeutic applications. J. Biomol. Tech. 16, 224–234.
- Penner, G., 2012. Commercialization of an aptamer-based diagnostic test. IVD Technol. 18, 31–37.
- Pershad, K., Pavlovic, J.D., Graslund, S., Nilsson, P., Colwill, K., Karatt-Vellatt, A., et al., 2010. Generating a panel of highly specific antibodies to 20 human SH2 domains by phage display. Protein Eng. Des. Sel. 23, 279–288.
- Peterson, N.C., 2000. Behavioral, clinical, and physiologic analysis of mice used for ascites monoclonal antibody production. Commun. Med. 50, 516–526.
- Petrenko, V.A., Vodyanoy, V.J., 2003. Phage display for detection of biological threat agents. J. Microbiol. Methods 53, 253–262.
- Ponsel, D., Neugebauer, J., Ladetzki-Baehs, K., Tissot, K., 2011. High affinity, developability and functional size: the holy grail of combinatorial antibody library generation. Molecules 16, 3675–3700.
- Prassler, J., Thiel, S., Pracht, C., Polzer, A., Peters, S., Bauer, M., et al., 2011. HuCAL PLATINUM, a synthetic Fab library optimized for sequence diversity and superior performance in mammalian expression systems. J. Mol. Biol. 413, 261–278.
- Purschke, W.G., Hoehlig, K., Buchner, K., Zboralski, D., Schwoebel, F., Vater, A., et al., 2014. Identification and characterization of a mirror-image oligonucleotide that binds and neutralizes sphingosine 1-phosphate, a central mediator of angiogenesis. Biochem. J. 462, 153–162.
- Rader, C., 2012. Generation of Human Fab Libraries for Phage Display. In: Proetzel, G., Ebersbach, H. (Eds.), Antibody Methods and Protocols. Humana Press, Totowa, NJ, pp. 53–79.
- Radom, F., Jurek, P.M., Mazurek, M.P., Otlewski, J., Jeleń, F., 2013. Aptamers: molecules of great potential. Biotechnol. Adv. 31, 1260–1274.
- Ramos, E., Pineiro, D., Soto, M., Abanades, D.R., Martin, M.E., Salinas, M., et al., 2007. A DNA aptamer population specifically detects Leishmania infantum H2A antigen. Lab. Investig. 87, 409–416.
- Ramos, E., Moreno, M., Martin, M.E., Soto, M., Gonzalez, V.M., 2010. In vitro selection of Leishmania infantum H3-binding ssDNA aptamers. Oligonucleotides 20, 207–213.
- Ray, P., Viles, K.D., Soule, E.E., Woodruff, R.S., 2013. Application of aptamers for targeted therapeutics. Arch. Immunol. Ther. Exp. (Warsz) 61, 255–271.
- Razai, A., Garcia-Rodriguez, C., Lou, J., Geren, I.N., Forsyth, C.M., Robles, Y., et al., 2005. Molecular evolution of antibody affinity for sensitive detection of botulinum neurotoxin type A. J. Mol. Biol. 351, 158–169.
- Robertson, D.L., Joyce, G.F., 1990. Selection in vitro of an RNA enzyme that specifically cleaves single-stranded DNA. Nature 344, 467–468.
- Rothlisberger, D., Pos, K.M., Pluckthun, A., 2004. An antibody library for stabilizing and crystallizing membrane proteins - selecting binders to the citrate carrier CitS. FEBS Lett. 564, 340–348.
- Schier, R., McCall, A., Adams, G.P., Marshall, K.W., Merritt, H., Yim, M., et al., 1996. Isolation of picomolar affinity anti-c-erbB-2 single-chain Fv by molecular evolution of the complementarity determining regions in the center of the antibody binding site. J. Mol. Biol. 263, 551–567.
- Schirrmann, T., Meyer, T., Schütte, M., Frenzel, A., Hust, M., 2011. Phage display for the generation of antibodies for proteome research, diagnostics and therapy. Molecules 16, 412–426.

- Scholler, N., 2012. Selection of antibody fragments by yeast display. Methods Mol. Biol. 907, 259–280.
- Seymour, S., 2009. Overview of the FDA Background Materials for BLA# 125277, Kalbitor (Ecallantide) Injection 30 mg, for the Treatment of Acute Attacks of Hereditary Angioedema (HAE) in Patients 10 Years of Age and Older. FDA Division Memorandum.
- Shin, S., Kim, I.H., Kang, W., Yang, J.K., Hah, S.S., 2010. An alternative to Western blot analysis using RNA aptamer-functionalized quantum dots. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 20, 3322–3325.
- Shoemaker, C.B., 2005. When will rAbs replace mAbs in labs? Vet. J. 170, 151-152.
- Simmons, S.C., McKenzie, E.A., Harris, L.K., Aplin, J.D., Brenchley, P.E., Velasco-Garcia, M.N., et al., 2012. Development of novel single-stranded nucleic acid aptamers against the pro-angiogenic and metastatic enzyme heparanase (HPSE1). PLoS One 7, e37938.
- Smith, G.P., 1985. Filamentous fusion phage: novel expression vectors that display cloned antigens on the virion surface. Science 228, 1315–1317.
- Šmuc, T., Ahn, I.-Y., Ulrich, H., 2013. Nucleic acid aptamers as high affinity ligands in biotechnology and biosensorics. J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 81–82, 210–217.
- Steidl, S., Ratsch, O., Brocks, B., Dürr, M., Thomassen-Wolf, E., 2008. In vitro affinity maturation of human GM-CSF antibodies by targeted CDR-diversification. Mol. Immunol. 46, 135–144.
- Storz, U., 2011. Intellectual property protection: strategies for future antibody inventions. mAbs 3, 310–317.
- Strehlitz, B., Nikolaus, N., Stoltenburg, R., 2008. Protein detection with aptamer biosensors. Sensors (Basel) 8, 11.
- Sundaram, P., Kurniawan, H., Byrne, M.E., Wower, J., 2013. Therapeutic RNA aptamers in clinical trials. Eur. J. Pharm. Sci. 48, 259–271.
- Tan, W., Wang, H., Chen, Y., Zhang, X., Zhu, H., Yang, C., et al., 2011. Molecular aptamers for drug delivery. Trends Biotechnol. 29, 634–640.
- Taylor, A.I., Arangundy-Franklin, S., Holliger, P., 2014. Towards applications of synthetic genetic polymers in diagnosis and therapy. Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol. 22C, 79–84.
- Ten Haaf, A., Pscherer, S., Fries, K., Barth, S., Gattenlöhner, S., Kemal, T.M., 2015. Phage display-based on-slide selection of tumor-specific antibodies on formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded human tissue biopsies. Immunol. Lett. 166, 65–78.
- Thie, H., Voedisch, B., Dübel, S., Hust, M., Schirrmann, T., 2009. Affinity maturation by phage display. In: Dimitrov, A.S. (Ed.), Therapeutic Antibodies. Humana Press, Totowa, NJ, pp. 309–322.
- Thiviyanathan, V., Gorenstein, D.G., 2012. Aptamers and the next generation of diagnostic reagents. Proteomics Clin. Appl. 6, 563–573.
- Toh, S.Y., Citartan, M., Gopinath, S.C.B., Tang, T.-H., 2015. Aptamers as a replacement for antibodies in enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay. Biosens. Bioelectron. 64C, 392–403.
- Tuerk, C., Gold, L., 1990. Systematic evolution of ligands by exponential enrichment: RNA ligands to bacteriophage T4 DNA polymerase. Science 249, 505–510.
- Unkauf, T., Miethe, S., Fühner, V., Schirrmann, T., Frenzel, A., Hust, M., 2015. Generation of recombinant antibodies against toxins and viruses by phage display for Diagnostics and Therapy. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. (in press).
- Wandtke, T., Wozniak, J., Kopinski, P., 2015. Aptamers in diagnostics and treatment of viral infections. Viruses 7, 751–780.
- Webber, J.P., Stone, T.C., Katilius, E., Smith, B.C., Gordon, B., Mason, M.D., et al., 2014. Proteomics analysis of cancer exosomes using a novel modified aptamer-based array (SOMAscan<sup>™</sup>) platform. Mol. Cell. Proteomics 13, 1050–1064.
- Weidanz, J.A., 2014. Methods of Assaying Vaccine Potency. Receptor Logic, Inc.
- Xiao, Z., Shangguan, D., Cao, Z., Fang, X., Tan, W., 2008. Cell-specific internalization study of an aptamer from whole cell selection. Chemistry 14, 1769–1775.
- Xu, Y., Yang, X., Wang, E., 2010. Aptamers in microfluidic chips. Anal. Chim. Acta 683, 12–20.
- Yau, K., Lee, H., Hall, J., 2003. Emerging trends in the synthesis and improvement of hapten-specific recombinant antibodies. Biotechnol. Adv. 21, 599–637.
- Ylera, F., 2010. In: MorphoSys UK Ltd. (Ed.), HuCAL Antibodies Technical Manual, second ed (Oxford, UK).
- Yue, Q, Shen, T., Wang, J., Wang, L., Xu, S., Li, H., et al., 2013. A reusable biosensor for detecting mercury(II) at the subpicomolar level based on "turn-on" resonance light scattering. Chem. Commun. (Camb.) 49, 1750–1752.
- Zaher, H.S., Unrau, P.J., 2005. Nucleic acid library construction using synthetic DNA constructs. Methods Mol. Biol. 288, 359–378.
- Zeng, Z., Zhang, P., Zhao, N., Sheehan, A.M., Tung, C.H., Chang, C.C., et al., 2010. Using oligonucleotide aptamer probes for immunostaining of formalin-fixed and paraffinembedded tissues. Mod. Pathol. 23, 1553–1558.
- Zhang, Y., Hong, H., Cai, W., 2011. Tumor-targeted drug delivery with aptamers. Curr. Med. Chem. 18, 4185–4194.
- Zhu, G., Ye, M., Donovan, M.J., Song, E., Zhao, Z., Tan, W., 2012. Nucleic acid aptamers: an emerging frontier in cancer therapy. Chem. Commun. (Camb.) 48, 10,472–10,480.
- Zhu, J., Huang, H., Dong, S., Ge, L., Zhang, Y., 2014. Progress in aptamer-mediated drug delivery vehicles for cancer targeting and its implications in addressing chemotherapeutic challenges. Theranostics 4, 931–944.
- Zichel, R., Chearwae, W., Pandey, G.S., Golding, B., Sauna, Z.E., 2012. Aptamers as a sensitive tool to detect subtle modifications in therapeutic proteins. PLoS One 7.